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INTRODUCTION

Jae K. Lee and Wankyu Choi sued Mario Badescu Skin Care, Inc. and Mario
Badescu for marketing and labeling two face creams without disclosing all of the
ingredients. Plaintiffs sought economic damages and equitable relief on behalf of
themselves and a nationwide class of face cream purchasers. Before the class was
certified, defendants agreed to settle the action. Nine class members, who timely
objected, appeal raising numerous contentions. In the unpublished portion of this
opinion, we hold that the objectors have not demonstrated error. In the published portion
of this opinion, we hold that the one-time publication of the notice of settlement did not
violate the Consumers Legal Remedies Act (Civ. Code, § 1750 et seq. (CLRA)).
Accordingly, we affirm the judgment.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

1. The complaint

In December 2012, the Korean Ministry of Food and Drug Safety suspended the
sales of defendants’ Healing Cream after testing revealed the product contained two
unlabeled corticosteroids, hydrocortisone and triamcinolone acetonide. The recall
advised consumers to cease using the cream and warned that long-term use of steroids
could lead to skin atrophy and enlarged capillaries.

Plaintiffs Lee and Choi (together plaintiffs, the named plaintiffs, or class

representatives) purchased defendants” Healing Cream and used it." Their attorneys had

! The two named plaintiffs attached declarations to their response to objections, in

which they stated they “personally used Mario Badescu Healing Cream” after receiving
It.



the purchased creams tested by an independent laboratory and discovered the presence of
2610 ug/g of hydrocortisone and 1899 pg/g of triamcinolone acetonide. The named
plaintiffs filed this consumer class action against defendants on behalf of all persons
residing in the United States who purchased defendants’ Healing Cream.

The operative complaint alleged that defendants represented through marketing,
advertising, labeling, and other forms of promotion, that the Healing Cream prevented
acne scars and speeded up the healing process for irritated or acne-erupted skin,? but
“failed to disclose that [defendants’] Healing Cream products contain levels of
Hydrocortisone and Triamcinolone Acetonide, which are steroid substances with serious
side effects. [1]...[f] Triamcinolone is a synthetic corticosteroid used to treat various
skin conditions. . .. Triamcinolone Acetonide . . . isa DOCTOR’S PRESCRIPTION
ONLY medicated cream . ...” The complaint alleged that the class overpaid for the
product because its value was diminished at the time it was sold to consumers. Had the
class members been aware that the cream contained hydrocortisone and triamcinolone
acetonide, they would not have purchased the product, would have paid less for it, or
would have purchased another competing product.

The complaint asserted causes of action for violation of the CLRA,; fraudulent
concealment; false advertising in violation of Business and Professions Code section
17500, all of which violated Business and Professions Code section 17200; breach of
express and implied warranties; and false and misleading advertisement in violation of
the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. § 2301 et seq.). Plaintiffs sought an order
certifying a nationwide class and a California subclass, and sought injunctive relief,
restitution, monetary damages, punitive damages, and attorney fees. Defendants stopped

selling the creams after the complaint was filed.

2 Plaintiffs alleged that the Healing Cream’s label listed the ingredients as * ‘Balsam

(Myroxylon Pereirae Resin) Peru, Polyglycerlmenthacrylate (and) Propylene Glycol,
Herbal Extract, Bismuth Subgallate,” ” but that “[d]efendants did not disclose that the
Healing Cream contained STEROIDS.”



[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]

2. The litigation

In April 2013, the parties filed a joint initial status conference and class action
response statement. Defendants anticipated moving for summary judgment to address
preemption, standing, causation, and damages. Commencing in May 2013, after
demurrers, motions to strike, and amendments to the complaint, plaintiffs served
defendants with approximately 300 discovery requests in the form of multiple sets of
interrogatories, demands for production, and requests for admission. Defendants
submitted multiple responses and supplemented responses. Also in May 2013 when
plaintiffs served their first round of discovery, their attorneys began preparing for a
settlement meeting and interviewed a class action administrator about settlement issues.

Pursuant to trial court order, in August 2013, the parties negotiated a protective
order under which defendants produced 359 pages of documents concerning the revenue
from the sale of their cream. Based on defendants’ discovery responses, plaintiffs added
to their motion for final approval claims that in addition to the Healing Cream,
defendants failed to disclose that their Control Cream also contained levels of
hydrocortisone and triamcinolone acetonide. Defendants reported that they sold
approximately 160,000 units of creams, more than half of which sales were made to
retailers. Plaintiffs learned from defendants’ supplemental responses to plaintiffs’ second
and third sets of special interrogatories that defendants’ revenue from the sale of both
creams during the class period was approximately $2.5 million.

[[End nonpublished portion.]]

3. The settlement

The parties underwent mediation and conducted settlement discussions that
continued after mediation. The parties reached a settlement of the action on behalf of the
class (the settlement agreement). On November 20, 2013, they moved the trial court for

preliminary certification of the class and approval of the stipulation of settlement.



[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]

a. the settlement’s quid pro quo

The settlement agreement identified one class, defined as “all persons in the
United States who purchased one or more of Defendants’ Healing Cream or Control
Cream from February 15, 2009 up to and including the Notice Date.” Defendants agreed
to an injunction under which they would no longer market, advertise or sell either cream
unless the labels and all descriptions and advertisements of the products disclosed all of
the ingredients contained therein. Defendants also agreed to provide each class member,
who submitted a timely claim form, with a certificate entitling the claimant to $45 off any
purchase of any of defendants’ products. Class members who demonstrated they had
purchased both creams would be entitled to two certificates. The coupons could not be
redeemed for cash, were nontransferable, and expired in 180 days. Defendants agreed
not to oppose an attorney fee application for $1.2 million, and incentive payments of
$3,000 to plaintiff Lee, and $2,000 to plaintiff Choi.

b. the settlement’s release

The settlement agreement provided that the class would release all claims and
causes of action “arising from or related to the Products and claims at issue in the Action”
that were asserted or could reasonably have been asserted in the lawsuit, and that the
release would be construed as broadly as possible. Expressly excluded from the release
were all claims for personal injuries. The stipulation of settlement stated,
“Notwithstanding any other provision of this Stipulation of Settlement . . . Plaintiffs and
Class Members are not releasing any claims, demands, rights, damages, obligations,
suits, debts, liens, and causes of action relating to personal injuries arising from their use
of any of the Products.” (lItalics added.)

[[End nonpublished portion.]]

4. The natification

The trial court provisionally certified the class for settlement purposes and
preliminarily approved the settlement. The court modified the proposed notice

methodology to require that e-mail notices include hyperlinks to the long form notice and



the claim form. The court approved appointment of the settlement administrator agreed
to by the parties, and ordered that notice of pendency and settlement be given to the
proposed class according to the agreement.

After notice as approved by the trial court was sent, the named plaintiffs moved
for final approval of the class settlement. Plaintiffs’ attorney declared that based on
available information, approximately 36,954 class members purchased about 65,495 units
of the creams through defendants’ website or at their New York spa during the class
period, indicating a purchasing pattern under which each member bought 1.8 units of the
cream. The settlement administrator received from defendants the names and addresses
or e-mails for class members who purchased products through defendants’ website or at
their spa. After culling duplicates, the settlement administrator identified 33,331 valid
e-mail addresses to which it sent summary notices, and 3,623 valid street addresses to
which it sent long form notices, pursuant to the trial court’s preliminary approval order.
The settlement administrator sent 32,092 reminder notices in March 2014. After tracking
248 addressees whose mail was undeliverable, the administrator sent new notices by
April 2014. The administrator established a Post Office Box address and a website to
answer questions and provide additional information about the settlement.

In addition to the website and spa sales, another approximately 91,000 units of the
creams were shipped by defendants to retailers around the country. On January 26, 2014,
the settlement administrator published the summary notice in Parade Magazine, which
has a circulation of more than 32 million and is distributed to 600 newspapers
nationwide. The administrator also activated a toll free telephone number.

As of April 29, 2014, two months after the deadline for opting out of the class, the
parties estimated the class size to be around 86,000 members of which 42 requested
exclusion, nine filed objections to the settlement, and two others objected but filed

nothing with the court. All but three objectors are parties to this appeal.®

3 Dawn Weaver filed a timely objection in the trial court and an appeal from the

order approving the settlement class. However, at her request, we dismissed Weaver’s
appeal on June 25, 2015.



Of the 11,942 submitted claim forms, the settlement administrator determined that
11,620 were valid. This yielded a claim rate of nearly 14 percent, or almost three times
the typical consumer class action claim-rate of 5 percent, according to the parties. The
total estimated value of the claims was $895,365. Coupled with the costs charged by the
settlement administrator and attorney fees, the total economic value of the settlement,
plaintiffs asserted, was $2,413,338.40.

5. The objections

Two groups filed objections to the preliminary approval of the class and of the
settlement agreement.

[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]

a. The Restaino Objectors

Mary Restaino, Geoffrey Yu, Theresa Stern Valentic, Betty Huang, and Zoe
Herold (the Restaino Objectors), each of whom claimed to have suffered physical injury
from defendants’ creams, observed that the class definition included those who suffered
physical injury whereas the named plaintiffs did not allege they suffered physical injury
and sought only economic damages. Thus, the Restaino Objectors argued first that the
settlement class was improperly certified because the named plaintiffs did not adequately
represent class members who sustained personal injury. The Restaino Objectors also
challenged the settlement as neither fair, reasonable, nor adequate because the certificates
were not appropriate compensation for those class members who suffered personal
injuries. The certificates also were nontransferable with the result they were worthless to
class members who no longer wished to do business with defendants.

[[End nonpublished portion.]]

b. The McLaren Objectors

Donna McLaren, Rebecca McDonald, and Howard Clark (the McLaren Objectors)
contended that the notice was deficient and precluded assumption of jurisdiction over the
absent class members because notice was published in Parade Magazine only a quarter of
the times required by the CLRA. (Civ. Code, § 1781, subd. (d).)



[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]
They also argued that the notice failed to mention that the creams contained prescription-
only steroids as alleged in the complaint, in violation of California Rules of Court, rule
3.766. The McLaren Objectors further contended that the settlement was not fair,
reasonable, or adequate in light of the strength and value of plaintiffs’ claims that steroids
are serious and harmful. They also argued that the release was ambiguous as it inartfully
excluded personal injury claims. Finally, they took exception to class counsel’s $1.2
million attorney fee award and the incentive award for the named plaintiffs.

In response to the objections, the parties amended the proposed judgment to make
the certificates transferable.

[[End nonpublished portion.]]

6. The trial court’s ruling

In May 2014, the trial court entered a final order approving the class and the
stipulation of settlement.

[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]

The court found that the settlement was fair, reasonable, and adequate. The final
order recognized that class members were given the opportunity to opt out and that the
releases excepted from their ambit all “personal injury claims that Class Members may
have arising from their use of the Products, which are expressly exempt from the

Released Claims.” The final order stated under “9. Binding Effect” that the terms of the

stipulation and the final order and judgment would be forever binding on the parties and
all class members, and that “Plaintiffs and Defendants agree, however, that neither the
terms of the Stipulation of Settlement, this Final Order, nor the accompanying Final
Judgment bind Class Members to the extent they may have personal injury claims arising
from their use of the Healing Cream or Control Cream. All such personal injury claims
are not being settled in this Action.” (Italics added.) Section “12. Release,” read, under
“(b)” “Plaintiffs and Defendants agree that the Release set forth in this Paragraph 12 and

the Released Claims do not mean or include any claims a Class Member may have



relating to personal injuries they may have suffered as a result of their use of the
Products.” (ltalics added.)

The court granted plaintiffs’ motion for incentive awards of $2,000 for plaintiff
Choi and $3,000 for plaintiff Lee, and granted class counsel’s attorney fee motion in part,
by approving a multiplier of 1.8 over the lodestar, for a total of $864,324, plus $9,472 in
costs. The Restaino and McLaren Objectors filed their timely appeals.

7. The New Jersey lawsuit filed by the Restaino Objectors’ attorneys

We have taken judicial notice that two months after filing their notice of appeal, in
September 2014, attorney Gary E. Mason, on behalf of all but one of the Restaino
Objectors (Restaino, Yu, Huang and Valentic)* and numerous other plaintiffs, some of
whom had opted out of the California settlement class, filed a personal injury action
against defendants in New Jersey. The complaint asserts violation of the New Jersey
product liability and consumer fraud acts, fraudulent concealment, strict liability, and
negligence, among other causes of action. The complaint alleges that defendants failed to
disclose that the creams contained corticosteroids which caused the plaintiffs to suffer
physical injuries. The New Jersey complaint seeks personal injury as well as economic
and punitive damages.

Defendants moved to dismiss the New Jersey complaint or to stay the lawsuit
pending resolution of the appeal in this case on the ground, among others, that those class
members who opted out of the California settlement could pursue both personal injury
and non-personal injury damages in New Jersey, but the three plaintiffs who did not
exclude themselves from the California settlement could only seek personal injury
damages in New Jersey. At the hearing in New Jersey, counsel for defendants
“maintain[ed] that personal injury claims are not part of the California action and
settlement.” (Italics added.) Attorney Mason argued on behalf of the New Jersey
plaintiffs that “we were told . . . you can go because [the California] settlement doesn’t

release personal injuries” and so the New Jersey plaintiffs “are not seeking personal

Zoe Herold, a Restaino objector, is not a plaintiff in the New Jersey lawsuit.



injuries in California. There is no pending complaint on their behalf for personal

injuries in California.” (ltalics added.) The New Jersey court noted that the plaintiffs

there “conceded on the record that certain plaintiffs will not be bringing economic claims

in this action” and denied defendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint there.
CONTENTIONS

The Restaino Objectors contend that the trial court erred in certifying a settlement
class because the named plaintiffs were inadequate class representatives.

The McLaren Objectors contend the notice of settlement was constitutionally and
statutorily deficient, the settlement is not fair or adequate, the release is overly broad, and
the attorney fee and incentive awards indicate collusion.

[[End nonpublished portion.]]
DISCUSSION
[[Begin nonpublished portion.]]
1. Standing

As a preliminary matter, Betty Huang, a Restaino objector, does not have standing
to participate in this appeal, despite her inclusion with the Restaino Objectors’

February 26, 2014 filing. Appeals may be taken only by aggrieved parties. (Code Civ.
Proc., 8 902.) Appellants’ “rights or interests must be injuriously affected by the
judgment. [Citation.]” (Rebney v. Wells Fargo Bank (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 1117,
1128.) The settlement agreement permitted class members to opt out of the class. On
February 23, 2014, three days before the Restaino objections were filed, Huang sent a
timely exclusion (opt out) request and is a plaintiff in the New Jersey action seeking
damages for personal injuries as well as non-personal injuries. Having opted out, Huang
is not bound by the judgment here and is not a party to, much less aggrieved by, the
settlement. Huang cannot be permitted to opt out, bring a separate action for personal
injury damages, and simultaneously be part of the Restaino Objectors’ appeal from the

denial of their objections.
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2. Standard of review of the class action settlement

Generally, “questions whether a settlement was fair and reasonable, whether
notice to the class was adequate, whether certification of the class was proper, and
whether the attorney fee award was proper are matters addressed to the trial court’s broad
discretion.” (Wershba v. Apple Computer, Inc. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 224, 234-235
(Wershba).) In cases where there has been no antecedent certification of an adversarial
class, trial courts should scrutinize class actions settlements more carefully (Dunk v. Ford
Motor Co. (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1794, 1803, fn. 9 (Dunk)) to ensure that absent class
members’ rights are adequately protected. (Weil & Brown, Cal. Practice Guide: Civil
Procedure Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2015) { 14:138:20, p. 14-101.) However,
“these concerns are satisfied by a careful fairness review of the settlement by the trial
court.” (Wershba, supra, at p. 240.)

Although the trial court’s “inquiry must ‘be especially careful and penetrating in a
case such as this where class certification is deferred to the settlement stage.’
[Citation.] . .. we. .. review the trial court’s decision to approve a settlement
[class] . . . under the ‘abuse of discretion’ standard.” (Carter v. City of Los Angeles
(2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 808, 820 (Carter).) Our review “is narrowly
circumscribed. . . . “‘and we afford that decision great deference on appeal, reversing only
for a manifest abuse of discretion: . . . unless (1) it is unsupported by substantial
evidence, (2) it rests on improper criteria, or (3) it rests on erroneous legal assumptions.
[Citations.]” [Citations.]” (Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (2012)
53 Cal.4th 1004, 1022 (Brinker).) “To the extent that it appears the trial court’s decision
was based on improper criteria or rests upon erroneous legal assumptions, these are
questions of law warranting our independent review. [Citations.]” (Wershba, supra,
91 Cal.App.4th at p. 235.)

3. Certification of the class
a. The named plaintiffs were adequate class representatives.
Code of Civil Procedure section 382 authorizes class actions in California. To

certify a class, courts must determine whether there is “an ascertainable and sufficiently

11



numerous class, a well-defined community of interest, and substantial benefits from
certification that render proceeding as a class superior to the alternatives. [Citations.] ‘In
turn, the “community of interest requirement embodies three factors: (1) predominant
common questions of law or fact; (2) class representatives with claims or defenses typical
of the class; and (3) class representatives who can adequately represent the class.” ’
[Citations.]” (Brinker, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 1021, italics added; Code Civ. Proc., § 382;
Civ. Code, § 1781, subd. (b); Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429, 435.)

The third factor, adequacy, is the result of due process and the res judicata effect
of the class judgment on absent members. (City of San Jose v. Superior Court (1974)

12 Cal.3d 447, 463 (City of San Jose).) “To satisfy constitutional due process concerns,
absent class members must be afforded adequate representation before entry of a
judgment which binds them.” (Hanlon v. Chrysler Corporation (9th Cir. 1998) 150 F.3d
1011, 1020 (Hanlon), citing Hansberry v. Lee (1940) 311 U.S. 32, 42-43.) Toward that
end, courts consider two questions: (1) whether the class representatives are part of the
class and possess the same interest and suffer the same injury as the class members, i.e.,
whether the class representatives have no conflict of interest with other class members
(J.P. Morgan & Co., Inc. v. Superior Court (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 195, 212), and

(2) whether the representative will “ ‘vigorously and tenaciously’ ” prosecute the interests
of the absent class members. (Simons v. Horowitz (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 834, 846; Weil
& Brown, Cal. Practice. Guide: Civil Procedure Before Trial, supra, 1 14:36, p. 14-38.)
A “party’s claim of representative status will only be defeated by a conflict that * “goes to
the very subject matter of the litigation.” > [Citation.]” (Capitol People First v. State
Dept. of Developmental Services (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 676, 697.)

The Restaino Objectors contend that the named plaintiffs are inadequate class
representatives because these plaintiffs did not suffer personal injury from the creams and
so their interests conflict with those of the class, which as defined, includes purchasers
who do claim to have experienced such injuries. The Restaino Objectors are concerned,

because they fall within the class definition, that they will be barred by res judicata and

12



the prohibition against claim splitting from bringing personal injury lawsuits against
defendants in the future.

At bottom, all objectors insist on characterizing this lawsuit as one seeking
remedies for personal injuries arising from use of the creams. However, notwithstanding
such claims may fall within the sweep of the class definition, they were withdrawn from
adjudication by the settlement’s releases, rendering this case nothing other than a garden
variety non-personal injury consumer class action.

(i) The settlement preserved class members’ personal injury claims for future
litigation with the result there is no conflict of interest that would render the named
plaintiffs inadequate as representatives.

“Under federal and California law, res judicata generally precludes parties or their
privies from litigating in a second lawsuit issues that were or could have been litigated in
a prior suit. [Citation.]” (Louie v. BFS Retail & Commercial Operations, LLC (2009)
178 Cal.App.4th 1544, 1554 (Louie).) It is likewise settled that a court-approved
settlement pursuant to a final consent decree in a class action is considered a final
adjudication and “ ‘will operate to bar subsequent suits by class members.

[Citations.] ... “A judgment entered . . . by consent or stipulation, is as conclusive a
... bar as a judgment rendered after trial.” [Citations.]’ [Citations.]” (Id. at p. 1555,
italics added.)

However, « “[i]t is axiomatic that [a stipulated judgment ’s] res judicata effect
extends only to those issues embraced within the consent judgment. [Citations.] Thus,
while a stipulated judgment normally concludes all matters put into issue by the
pleadings, the parties can agree to restrict its scope by expressly withdrawing an issue
from the consent judgment. [Citations.]’ ” (Louie, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at p. 1559,
italics added.) Res judicata will not apply to claims that the parties agreed in a court-
approved stipulation to reserve for later litigation. (Ellena v. State of California (1977)
69 Cal.App.3d 245, 260-261.)

In Louie, the trial court sustained the defendant’s demurer to the plaintiffs’

complaint alleging violation of California’s Disabled Persons Act on the ground that res
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judicata barred the action based on a consent decree in a Florida class action lawsuit
alleging the defendant violated the Americans with Disabilities Act. The appellate court
in Louie reversed because the final judgment in Florida approving the class certification
and consent decree did not refer to state law and explained in a footnote that it « ‘reflects
the deletion of damage claims that the parties voluntarily excised from the Proposed
Consent Decree . . . [and that] the issue of damages had been voluntarily excised and the
case was limited to injunctive/declaratory relief.” ” (Louie, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at pp.
1547, 1557, italics added.) Louie discussed both federal and state law. (ld. at pp. 1558-
1559.) It “observe[d] the commonsense statement in a plurality opinion” in United States
v. Seckinger (1970) 397 U.S. 203 at page 206, footnote 6, agreeing that res judicata did
not bar certain claims in a Georgia Federal District Court based on a prior judgment of a
South Carolina District Court, because the latter court expressly left open the option for
the claims to be pursued at a later time. (Louie, supra, at p. 1557.) California law is the
same. (Id. at p. 1559, citing Ellena v. State of California, supra, 69 Cal.App.3d 245
[where parties expressly agree to withdraw issue from court, issue not adjudicated and
not res judicata] & Miller & Lux, Inc. v. James (1919) 180 Cal. 38, 44-46 [stipulation not
to offer certain evidence at trial amounted to “withdrawal of an issue from the
consideration of the court” and so court’s decision was not res judicata as to withdrawn
issue].) Although Louie involved the question of whether an earlier lawsuit barred
Louie’s present California complaint, the appellate court in Louie held that under both
federal and California law, the plaintiff’s state law claims and damages were withdrawn
from adjudication by consent of the parties. (Louie, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1558
& 1562.)

Hanlon, supra, 150 F.3d 1011, analyzed the binding effect of a present settlement.
The Hanlon complaint in California asserted various causes of action arising from an
alleged defect in the rear liftgate latches of the defendant’s minivans. The parties
submitted a settlement agreement for approval. (ld. at p. 1018.) As here, the district
court issued an order granting preliminary approval of the settlement and certifying the

nationwide class of owners of the defendant’s minivan, but excluding from the settlement

14



all personal injury and death cases. (Id. at pp. 1018 & 1020.) The Ninth Circuit rejected
the challenge to the adequacy of representation finding no conflict of interest between the
named plaintiffs on the one hand and class members with personal injury claims on the
other. Any differences in severity of injury or in treatment of the class members, Hanlon
held, was avoided because “[n]o personal injury or wrongful death claims were included,
and any class member who wished to do so could opt out of the settlement class.” (1d. at
p. 1021.)

Louie and Hanlon teach us that res judicata does not bar future litigation of claims
and damages that are expressly excluded by the contracting parties from the release of
claims in a stipulated class action settlement. The parties to the settlement agreement
here expressly excluded from the agreement’s release all claims for personal injury
arising from the use of defendants’ two creams. Thus, they withdrew such claims from
adjudication in this lawsuit and from the court-approved settlement. Accordingly, no
conflict of interest exists between the class representatives and the class members on the
basis of personal injury, let alone a conflict that “ ¢ “goes to the very subject matter of the
litigation.” * ” (Capitol People First v. State Dept. of Developmental Services, supra,
155 Cal.App.4th at p. 697.) Personal injury claims and the damages flowing therefrom
were not extinguished by the judgment approving the stipulated settlement and so class
members may pursue recovery on that basis in another lawsuit. (See In re Toyota Motor
Corp. Unintended Acceleration, Marketing, Sales Practices and Products Liability
Litigation (C.D.Cal. June 17, 2013, No. 8:10ML 02151 JVSFMOx) 2013 WL 3224585,
[*14] [proposed settlement by “Economic Loss” class does not apply to personal injury,
wrongful death, and physical property damage claims because those claims were carved

out of the settlement for later litigation].)’

> Unpublished federal cases may be cited and found persuasive, although they are

not precedential authority. (Haligowski v. Superior Court (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 983,
990, fn. 4.)
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The McLaren Objectors argue that the release is susceptible of misinterpretation
and hence inadequately protects the rights of class members with personal injuries. They
observe that at the hearing on the settlement, plaintiffs and defendants were required to
clarify their own understanding of the effect of the release. We disagree. The exclusion
from the release here is similar to that deemed effective to preserve causes of action in
Louie, which provided, “ ‘The release does not include claims for individual damages,
that otherwise might be available under state law or local ordinance.” ” (Louie, supra,
178 Cal.App.4th at p. 1561, italics omitted.)® ’

Nor does the settlement agreement improperly force class members to split their
personal injury claims. “ ‘The rule against splitting a cause of action . . . is in part a rule
of abatement and in part a rule of res judicata.” [Citation.]” (Grisham v. Philip Morris
U.S.A., Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 623, 642.) While “[a] long-established rule prohibits the
splitting of a single cause of action so as to permit successive actions on parts of the
claim” for the same injury (7 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (5th ed. 2008) Judgment, § 406,

p. 1041), a generally recognized exception occurs when the defendant, “by acquiescing in
the procedure in the first action, [is] estopped to object in the second action. [Citations.]”
(Id., § 405, at p. 1040, citing United Bank & Trust Co. v. Hunt (1934) 1 Cal.2d 340, 345
[“The course pursued by the court and counsel . . . was tantamount to an express
determination . . . to reserve the issues involved for future adjudication,” italics added].)
In light of the fact that all personal injury claims and compensation therefore were not
adjudicated in this case and have been reserved for future litigation, no splitting of

personal injury claims is threatened. Unlike in City of San Jose, where the class action

6 We reject the McLaren Objector’s argument based on Molski v. Gleich (9th Cir.

2003) 318 F.3d 937, for the same reason that Louie rejected the defendant’s reliance on
Molski. (Louie, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1561-1562.) Molski did not involve res

judicata, but was a direct appeal from the certification of a class based on notice issues,
among other things.

! We are unpersuaded by the unpublished federal cases and cases from outside of
California cited by the Restaino Objectors.
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sought only one of many available measures of damages for nuisance (City of San Jose,
supra, 12 Cal.App.4th at p. 464), here, all personal-injury damages, which are necessarily
based on causes of action not alleged, have been withdrawn from adjudication and
settlement, with the result that no splitting has occurred. The named plaintiffs are not
inadequate representatives merely because class members might also have individual
causes of action for such injury in another lawsuit. (Beck-Ellman v. Kaz USA, Inc.
(S.D.Cal. 2012) 283 F.R.D. 558, 566-567.) As the Southern District of California noted,
“ ‘[d]efendant[s] cannot claim that Plaintiff is inadequate because [she] declines to assert
a theory that could unravel the putative class.” [Citation.]” (ld. at p. 566 [noting courts
routinely certify diminished value/overpayment claims where the underlying product also
causes personal injury or property damage]; see also In re Conseco Life Ins. Co.
LifeTrend Ins. Sales (N.D.Cal. 2010) 270 F.R.D. 521, 531-532.)®

Lest there be any doubt about the result, defendants’ attorneys stated at oral
argument in the trial court, “we made it absolutely clear [in the settlement agreement]
that the personal injuries will not be settled.” Defendants always understood that the
release excluded all personal injury claims. Although the res judicata effect can only be
tested in a subsequent action (Louie, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at p. 1560), “it would be
unjust to allow [defendants] to invoke res judicata to bar [personal injury] claims.” (ld. at
p. 1562.) Having agreed to exclude personal injury claims from the releases, and having
represented as much both here and in the New Jersey court, defendants will not be heard
to raise a res judicata or collateral estoppel bar to such claims. (See 7 Witkin, supra,

Judgment, § 405, p. 1040; Louie, supra, at p. 1562.) Similarly, three of the Restaino

8 The Restaino Objectors’ reliance on Cholakyan v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC

(C.D.Cal. 2012) 281 F.R.D. 534, is unavailing. There, the court declined to certify an
adjudicatory class seeking an injunction and declaration that the defendant’s cars
possessed a defectively designed water management system because it might defeat a
class member’s effort to obtain compensatory damages for that very same defect. (Id. at
p. 564.) That case did not involve a settlement class. Here, by contrast, nothing related
to physical injury has been adjudicated or settled, and so that issue would not be
precluded in a later suit.
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Objectors, who are plaintiffs seeking personal injury damages in the New Jersey class
action, represented to the New Jersey court that plaintiffs “are not seeking personal
injuries in California. There is no pending complaint on their behalf of personal injuries
in California.” (Italics added.) The New Jersey court agreed and denied defendants’
motion to dismiss the complaint.® Therefore, all parties are estopped to argue that
personal injury claims were adjudicated in this lawsuit.

(if) The named plaintiffs protected the class members’ interests and so they were
adequate representatives.

Turning to the second adequacy inquiry, the vigor with which the named
representatives and class counsel pursued the common claims (Simons v. Horowitz,
supra, 151 Cal.App.3d 834, 846), the Restaino Objectors argue that the class
representatives did not protect the interests of those who suffered personal injury in that
the representatives made no effort to obtain discovery relevant to personal injury or of the
underlying claims, and rushed to settlement by beginning negotiations three months after
filing the complaint. We disagree.

During discovery, plaintiffs and class counsel were able to obtain a settlement
term excluding personal injury claims from the release and so individual, personal-injury
claims were not litigated in this case with the result no investigation into such claims was
required. Hence, the concerns of the Supreme Court in City of San Jose are not

implicated. (City of San Jose, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 464 [holding inadequate

) We disagree with defendants that the Restaino Objectors lack standing and are

estopped from arguing that their personal injury claims will be improperly compromised
by the stipulated settlement here because of the statements their attorneys made in the
New Jersey proceeding. First, one Restaino objector, Zoe Herold is not a party to the
New Jersey action. Second, general releases are common in class action settlements.
(Carter, supra, 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 820-821.) Class members unhappy with the scope
of the release can seek to rectify it through objection or intervention, and appeal if not
satisfied with the result. (Ibid.) The Restaino Objectors appeared at the fairness hearing
and objected to the proposed settlement with the result they have standing to appeal.
(Wershba, supra, 91 Cal.App.4th at p. 235.) Accordingly, we reject the suggestion that
the Restaino Objectors’ appeal is frivolous.
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representation where named plaintiffs failed to raise claims reasonably expected to be
raised by members of class thereby depriving class of some elements of damage].)
Otherwise, the record shows that the named plaintiffs and class counsel engaged in
extensive discovery, both before and during the settlement negotiations, aimed at the
complaint’s allegations that were not ultimately excluded from the releases. Counsel
tested the product, mailed notice letters to defendants, engaged in motion practice and
formal and informal discovery that included three sets of interrogatories, and numerous
document demands and requests for admission, some of which was ordered by the trial
court upon motion by class counsel, that uncovered, among other things, a second cream
containing hydrocortisone and triamcinolone acetonide. The settlement was the product
of extensive negotiations both before a neutral mediator and in independent sessions.
The trial court was well aware of the battle waged between plaintiffs and defendants.
We disagree with the Restaino Objectors’ suggestion that, because no depositions
were taken, the lawsuit was not vigorously prosecuted and more discovery should have
been conducted before the parties settled. “[T]hat no class action can be settled until the
last particle of discovery has been completed and analyzed is not the law. ‘[I]n the
context of class action settlements, “formal discovery is not a necessary ticket to the
bargaining table” where the parties had sufficient information to make an informed
decision about settlement. . . . [Citation.] . ... “[N]otwithstanding the status of
discovery, plaintiffs’ negotiators had access to a plethora of information regarding the
facts of their case.” > [Citations